
U.~rITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF P,~ODE ISLAND

I~’rITED STATES OF A~MEPJCA,

PLAINTIFF,

V.

ELITEDESIGNS, KNC., a Rhode Island
corporation, and

A3qTFIO~z A~TO~ELLI, individually mud as
an officer of the corporation,

D~EI:’ENDA2NTS.

CO~’dPLAINT FOR CIVIL PENALT}ES, CONSUMER REDtLESS,
PER3XlANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

Plaintiff, the United States of America, acting upon notification and authorization to the

Attorney General by the Federal Trade Corm’nission ("FTC" or "the Commission"), pursuant 

Section 16(a)(l) of the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 56(a)(1), for 

complaint alleges:

1. PlMmiffbrings this amlon under Sections 5(a), 5(m)(])(A), 13Co), 16(a), 

the FTC Act, t 5 U.S:C. §§ 45(a), 45(m)(1)(A), 53(b), 56(a), and 57b, to secure civil 

consumer redress, a pecmanent injunction and other equitable relief for the defendants" violations

of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), and the FTC’s Trade Regulation Rule entitled

"Disclosure Requirements and Prohibitions Concerning Franchising and Business Opportunity



Ventures" (’~Franchise Rule" or "Rule"), ] 6 C.F.R. Part 436.

JURISDICTION AND VEN~UE

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over tlg.s action pursuant to 28 U-S.C.

§§ 1331, 1337(a), 1345, and 1355, and 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(m)(1)(A), 53(b), 56(a), and 

action arises ~nder 15 U.S.C. § 45(@

3. Venue in the United Slates District Court for the District of Riaode Island is proper

under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) - (c) 1395(a), and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

DEFENDANTS

4. D~endant Elite Designs, Inc. ("Elite DesiLms"), a P,_hode Island corporation with

its principal place of business at 17 Thelma Avenue, North Providence, Rhode Island, promotes

and sells fashion jewelry, dispJay rack business vemures. Elile Design,ms transacts or has transacted

business in the District of Rhode Island.

5. Defendant Anthony Antonel]i is the president of Elite Desi~mas. In ccrrmec~ion

with the ma~ters alleged herein, he resides or has transacted business in the Diswict of P,.hode

Island. At all times material to this complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, he has

formulated, directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and practices of the corporate

defendant, including the acts and practices set forth in this complaint.

COMMERCE

6. , At all times relevant to this complaint, the defendanls have maintained

substantial course of trade in the offering for sale and sale of fashion jewe]~ display rack

business ventures, in or affecting’commerce, as "’commerce" is defined in Section 4 of the FTC

Act, 15 U.S.C. §



THE DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS PRACTICES

7. The defendants offer and sell fashion jeweh%, display rack business ventures to

prospective purchasers. The defendants promote their business ventures through classified

advertisements in newspapers. 7m their advertisements, defendants make represemations about

the earnings potential of their business ventLlre, and urge consumers to call defendants’ toll-flee

telephone number to lem’n more about the opportunity-. For example, defendants’ classified

newspaper adveFtisements have stated:

ACCOL~TT R.EWTL.OC~L ROUTE. No selling. Make $100Y-.Jyr,

restocking in store dlsp]ays. S12,950 inve~ment includes

inventory & tenitor T. 888-324-]

8. The defendants have no reasonable basis for these earnings representations and

have failed to disclose additional information including lhe number and percentage of prior

purchasers }-._no~"n by defendants to have achieved the same or belier res-uIts.

9. Consumers who call the defendants’ toil-free telephone number are connected

defendants, or their employees or agents, who make representations about the earnings potentiaI

of the business venture. ]For example, the defendants or their employees or agents have

represented that business ventures consisting of 30 locations l:(p~ca]ly generate a profit of more

than S1,500 per week.

~ 0. Defendants failed to provide prospective business venture purchasers with an

earnings claim documc-nt containing information substantiating their earnings cla}ms, failed to

have a reasonable basis for the earnings claims at the time that they were made, and/or failed to

disclose that materials, which constitute a reasonable basis for the claims, are available.



11. Defendants send some prospective purchasers ~,,Mtten material, including a basic

franchise disclosure document.

12. This basic franchise disclosure document, however, is incomplete or inaccurate

because it faiIs to disclose information concerning other business venture purchasers.

THE FRANCHISE RU~E

] 3. The business ventures sold by the defendants are franchises, ~s "franchise" is

defined in Sections 436.2(a)(1)(i~), fa)(2), and (a)(5) of the Franchise Rule ("Rule"), 

436.2(a)(])(ii), (a)(2), and 

14. The Franchise Rule requires a franchisor to provide prospective franchisees with a

complete and accura’~e basic disclosure document containing twenty categories of information,

including information about the litigation and banta-ap~cy history of the franchisor and its

principals, the terms and conditions under which the franchise operates, and information

ideraif?4ng existing franchisees. 16 C.F.R. s 4_~6.1(a)(1) - (a)(20). The pre-sa/e disclosure 

information required by the Rule enable~ a prospective franchisee to contact prior purchasers and

take other steps to assess the potential risks involved in the purchase of the franchise.

15. The Franchise Rule additionally requires that a franchisor:

(a) have a reasonable basis for any oral, written, or ~,isual earnings claim 

makes, 16 C.F.R. § 436.1(b)(2), (c)(2) and 

(b) disclose, in immediate conjunction with any earnings claim it makes, and

in a clear and conspicuous manner, that material which constitutes a

reasonable basis for the earnings claim is available to prospective

franchisees, 16 C.F.R. § 436.~1 (b)(2) and (c)(2);
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(el provide, as prescribed by the Kale, an earnings claim doctnnt~nt containing

information that const~tntes a reasonable b~s fo~ ~y e~i~gs clam it

m~{es, 16 C.F.R. ~ 436.1(b) ~d (c); 

(d) cle~ly ~d conspicuously ~isclose, in immediate conjnnmion wi% any

g~GaIly diss~inmed earnings claim, additional info~aion including

the numbe~ ~d p~c~age of prior pmchasers ~mox~ by %e 9~chisor

have ad~ieved *he s~e or bener results, 16 C.F.R. } 436.] (e)(3)-(4).

16. Puget to Section 18(d)(3) of the ~C Act, 15 U.S.C. } 57a(d)(3), 

} 436.1, violaions of %e Fra~d~ise Rule constitme unfair or dec~tive acts or pra~ices in or

affecting co~¢e, in violation of Section 5(a) of the ~C Act, 15 U.S.C. ~ 45(a).

YI OLATI OrS OF T~E ~NC~ISE R~LE

COUNT 1

"Basic Disclosure Vio]aions

17: N co~ection wi~ ~e offering of ~chises, as "~nchise" is defined in Section

436.2(a~ of the Franchise Rule, the defe~d~ts have violaed Seaion 436.1 (a) of~e Rule 

Section 5(a) of the ~C Act by failing to provide prospective fi’anchisees win ac~ate 

complete basic disclos~e do~menm as prescribed by ~e Rule.

COUNT II

Earnings Disclosure Violaions

18. N conn~ion wjlh the offeNng of ~ancNses, as "~anchjse’" is defin~ ~ Sexton

436.2(a) of the Fr~chise Rule, ~he defmd~*s violate Sections 436.1 (b)-(c) of the Rule 

Section 5(a) of~he ~C Act by making earnings claims to prospective ~chisees while, i~er
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alia: (1) lacking a reasonable’basis for each claim at the times i~ is made; (2) failing to disclose,

in immediate conjunction ~’ith each earnings c~aim, and in a clear and conspicuous manner, that

material which constitutes a ~easonabIe bas{s for the claim is available to prospective franchisees;

and/or (3) failing to provide prospecti\’e franchisees ~dth an earnings claim document, 

prescribed by the Rule.

COUNT IIl

Adver~isine Disclosure Violations

19. In cormection with ~he offering of franchises, as "franchise" is defined in Section

436.2(a) of the Franchise Rule, the defendants violate Section 436.1(e) of the Rule and Section

5(a) of the FTC Act by making generally dissu-minaled eamirlgs claims without, b~fer alia,

disclosing., in inzmediate conjunction wi~h the claims, information required by the Franchise Rule

including the number and percentage of prior purchasers kmown by the defendants to have

achieved the same or better results.

CONSU~It~R INJURY

20. Consumers in the United States have suffered and ~a,ill suffer substantial monetary

loss as a result of lhe defendants’ violations of Section 5(a) of the FTC ~ct and the Franchise

Rule. Absent injuncti~’e relief by this Court, the defendants a~e likely to continue to injure

consumers and harm the public interest.

THIS COURT’S POX%’ER TO GRANT RELIEF

2I. Section 13(b) of the FYC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers tl~is Court to 

injunctive and other ancillar/relief, including consumer redress, disgorge-men~ and restitution, ~o

prevent and remedy a~y violations ofa~y provision of law enforced by the Federal Trade
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Cormniss~on.

22. Section 5(m)(])(A) oft.he FTC Act, ]5 U.S.C. § 45(m)(])(A), as 

Section 4 of the Federal C{vi] Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 246], as

amended, and as implemented by 16 C.F.R. § 1.98(d) (1997), authorizes this Corn1 to award

monetary ci,,il penalties ofnot more than 511,000 for each violation of the Francb3se Rule. The

defendants’ violations of the Rule were committed with the ],mow]edge required by Section

5(m)(I)(A) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(m)(1)(A).

23. Section 19 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57b, authorizes this Court to ~ant such

relief as the Court finds necessary to redress inju~ to consumers or other persons resulting from

the defendants~ violations of the Franchise R~tle, including the rescission and reformatior~ of

contracts, and the refund of money.

24. This Court, in the exercise of its equitable jurisdiction, may a~’ard ancillary relief

to remedy injury, caused by the defendants’ law violations.

PRAYI~R FOR RELIEF

WHEREFOP~, plaintiffreqaasts that INs Court, as authorized by Sections 5(a),

5(m)(1)(A), 13(b) and 19 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 45(m)(I)(A.), 53(b), 

pursuant to its o’~ equitable powers:

I. Emer jud~m’nent against the defendants and in favor o~the plaintiff for each

~:iolation alleged in this complaint;

Franchise Rule;

3.

Permanently enjoin the defendants from violating the FTC Act and the

Award plaintiffmonetaD, civil penalties from each defendant for every.



violation of the Franchise Rule;

4. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to

consume~ resulting from ~e def~d~ts’ ~io]~ions of~he FTC Ac~ ~d ~he Fr~c~se Rule,

including but not ]imiled to, rescission of con~a~s, t]~e re~nd of monies p~d, ~d ~e

disgorgem~nt ofi]]-got~ gains by the defenders; and

5. Award pla~ntJff~he costs ofbfinfi~ng th~s a~ion, as well ~ such oth~ ~d

sdd~lional relief as ~he Cou~ may dete~ine to be just ~d proper.



OF COUNSEL:

EmEEN H,~ZRLNGTON
Associate Director of Marketing Practices
Federal Trade Commission

MICHA][L J. DAVIS
Attorney, Federal Trade Commission
600 Pennsylvania Ave, ikrW, Room 238
WashinNon, D.C. 20580
202 326-2458
Fax: 202 326-3395

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

LrNITED STATES OF AMERICA

PETER D. KEISLER, JR.
Assistam Attorney General
Civil Division
United States Department of Justice

EUGENE M. THIROLF
Director
Office of Consttmer Litigaion

AMY g ./G O~.D KP..ANKV, Tri a 1
Office of Consumer hffigation

U.S. Department of Justice

P.O. Box 386
WashinNon, .D.C. 20044
202 307-0050
Fax: 202 514-8742

ROBERT CLARK CORR_E~TE

Uni~ed/tates Attorney

LISA DINrERMAN Bar ~2689
A~sistant United States Attgmey
50 Kermedy Plaza, 8~" Floor
Providence, Rhode Island 02903
40t 70%5000
Fax: 401 709-5017


